IN THE WASHINGTON STATE COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION III

No. 330621



MICHAEL F. CRONIN

Appellant/Cross-Respondent

vs.

CENTRAL VALLEY SCHOOL DISTRICT

Respondent/Cross-Appellant

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Larry J. Kuznetz
POWELL, KUZNETZ & PARKER, P.S.
316 W. Boone, Ste. 380
Rock Pointe Tower
Spokane, WA 99201-2346
(509) 455-4151
ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

I. INTRODUCTION

Plaintiff Michael F. Cronin ("Cronin"), was employed as a teacher at Central Valley School District ("District") for seven years. (CP 31). He was terminated from employment when the District refused to accept his union representative's timely served request for a statutory hearing on the merits of his termination. (CP 1-2; 76; 95). The District ignored the union representative's request for a statutory hearing, claiming that she was not an employee of the District and had no authority to request a hearing on Cronin's behalf. (Id.) As a consequence, the District refused to appoint a nominee for the selection of a hearing officer, which is the first step required by RCW 28A.405.310(4) after a teacher has been terminated. Cronin thereupon filed a declaratory judgment action to force the District to proceed to a statutory hearing and to pay his wages and benefits pending the outcome of the merits of his termination. (CP 29-30; 42-69).

On cross motions for summary judgment, the District claimed that the Trial Court lacked subject matter jurisdiction because Cronin failed to timely file his declaratory judgment action under RCW 28A.645.010, to force the District to appoint it's nominee for selection of the statutory hearing officer. (CP 20-28).

The Trial Court, per the Honorable Jerome Leveque, granted the District's Motion for Summary Judgment for lack of subject matter jurisdiction and entered an order on December 17, 2012, denying Plaintiff's Motion for Reconsideration. (*Id.*) On appeal to the Washington State Court of Appeals, Division III, on March 13, 2014, the court filed an unpublished opinion remanding this matter back to the Trial Court holding that the Trial Court erred in granting the District's Motion for Summary Judgment and not reaching the merits of Cronin's declaratory judgment action. (*Id.*)

The District filed a Motion for Reconsideration with the Court of Appeals, Division III, which was denied on April 10, 2014. (App. 1) The District thereupon filed a Petition for Discretionary Review with the Washington State Supreme Court, which was also denied on August 6, 2014. (App. 2)

Upon remand, the Trial Court, per the Honorable Kathleen O'Connor, heard cross motions for summary judgment. (CP 29-30; 109-110). The Trial Court granted Cronin's motion in part, finding 1) that his union representative, Sally McNair ("McNair), had the capacity and authority to file an appeal with the District on behalf of Cronin and request a statutory hearing; and 2) McNair's January 11, 2012, letter of appeal to Cronin's termination that was delivered to the District Superintendent that

day was actual notice to the District. (CP 309-311; RP 5:3-13). The Trial Court granted the District's Motion for Summary

Judgment finding that Cronin failed to timely elect a remedy

(grievance or statutory hearing) and thereupon dismissed his case

by order dated December 19, 2014. (*Id.*; RP 5-8) Cronin appeals

the dismissal of his case.

II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. The Trial Court erred in dismissing plaintiff's claims against the District for failing to elect a remedy, when plaintiff, through his union representative, did request a statutory hearing on the merits of plaintiff's termination.
- 2. The Trial Court erred in holding that the union representative's request for statutory hearing was not an election of a remedy.
- 3. The Trial Court erred in considering or failing to strike from consideration inadmissible evidence in the Declaration of Paul Clay.

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This matter was previously before this Court after the Trial

Court dismissed Cronin's case for lack of subject matter

jurisdiction. It is once again before this Court because the Trial

Court dismissed Cronin's case adopting the District's position that

he did not timely elect his remedy. Cronin did elect his remedy

and the merits of his termination should be determined by a

statutory hearing officer.

In January 2012, Cronin was employed with the Central Valley School District as a teacher. (CP 31). He had good performance evaluations and his classroom performance was never an issue. (CP 31; 73). Although he had an alcohol problem outside of school, he was never under the influence at school or while teaching. (CP 31-33; 73).

On September 30, 2011, Cronin voluntarily entered an alcohol treatment program at Sundown M Ranch near Yakima with knowledge and notice to the District. (CP 32-33). After discharge from treatment on October 27, 2011, he reported to Geiger Correctional Facility to serve out a 120-day sentence on the previous DUI/Physical Control charge. (CP 33). While at Geiger he was granted work release privileges and could have worked at the District if asked. (CP 33; 73).

On January 6, 2012, 10 days before his release and while still incarcerated, Cronin received a certified letter from the District terminating his employment. (CP 34; 40-41). Since he was still incarcerated, he had his union representative, Sally McNair, (McNair) timely file a Request for a Statutory Hearing with the Superintendent of Central Valley District on January 11, 2012. (CP 34-35; 74-76; 93).

On February 21, 2012, Cronin's attorney faxed a letter to the District's attorney inquiring about Cronin's paycheck and requesting reinstatement of his benefits pending the requested statutory hearing. (CP 98-101). On February 22, 2012, The District's attorney responded by e-mail stating that he was out of the office but would try to contact the District that day and get back to Cronin's counsel as soon as possible. (CP 102). Cronin's counsel heard nothing from the District's attorney. (CP 99).

Six days later on February 28, 2012, Cronin's union representative, Sally McNair, received a certified letter from the District. (CP 95). In that letter the Superintendent stated that the District did not consider McNair's request for statutory hearing on behalf of Cronin to have been properly presented since she was not an employee of the District and had not been authorized by

Cronin to file the request. (*Id.*) As a result, the District claimed that Cronin had waived his right to a statutory hearing. (*Id.*)

On March 23, 2012, Cronin filed an action for declaratory relief and summary judgment to enforce his request for a statutory hearing and for payment of wages and benefits pending a decision on the merits by a statutory hearing officer. (CP 29-30). The District also moved for summary judgment claiming that the Trial Court lacked subject matter jurisdiction because pursuant to RCW 28A.645.010: 1) Cronin failed to file his declaratory action within 30 days of the superintendent's uncommunicated decision not to give effect to McNair's letter requesting a statutory hearing on behalf of Cronin; and 2) Cronin had failed to file his action within 30 days after the 15 days had expired from when the District failed and refused to appoint a nominee to select a hearing officer. (CP 20-28).

On November 15, 2012, oral argument occurred before the Honorable Jerome Leveque, and on November 29, 2012, the Trial Court entered an Order Granting the defense Motion for Summary Judgment holding that the Court lacked subject matter jurisdiction. (*Id.*) Cronin moved for reconsideration on November 20, 2012. The court denied reconsideration on December 17,

2012. Cronin's Notice of Appeal to Division III was filed on December 21, 2012.

Oral argument occurred before Division III on February 5, 2014 and an unpublished opinion in favor of Cronin was issued on March 13, 2014. (CP 20-28). The District requested reconsideration of Division III's decision, which was denied. Thereupon the District petitioned the Washington State Supreme Court for discretionary review, which was also denied.

Having reversed the Trial Court and determining that subject matter jurisdiction existed, this Court remanded the matter to the Trial Court finding,

> ...the court erred in granting the District's request for summary judgment and not reaching the merits of Cronin's declaratory suit.

> The parties briefed whether Ms. McNair was a proper representative of Mr. Cronin and whether the District improperly withheld wages from Mr. Cronin. Because we hold the summary dismissal of Mr. Cronin's request for declaratory relief was improper and remand for a determination on the merits, we leave these matters for trial court resolution.

(CP 28).

On remand this matter was assigned to the Honorable

Kathleen M. O'Connor. Oral argument occurred on December 12,

2014, and on December 19, 2014, Judge O'Connor entered an

Order granting the defense Motion for Summary Judgment

dismissing Cronin's appeal on the basis that he had failed to timely elect a remedy. (CP 309-312; RP 5-8). Cronin's Notice of Appeal followed, that was timely filed on January 5, 2015.

IV. STANDARD OF REVIEW

The appellate court applies de novo review to an appeal from summary judgment, engaging in the same inquiry as the superior court. Hisle v. Todd Pac. Shipyards Corp., 151 Wn.2d 853, 860, 93 P.3d 108 (2004; Hiatt v. Walker Chevrolet Co., 120 Wn.2d 57, 65, 837 P.2d 618 (1992). Summary judgment is only appropriate if the pleadings, affidavits, depositions, and admissions on file demonstrate that there is no genuine issue of material fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. CR 56(c); Kirby v. City of Tacoma, 124 Wn.App. 454, 463, 98 P.3d 827 (2004). All facts and all reasonable inferences from those facts are construed in a light most favorable to the non-moving party. Vallandigham v. Clover Park School Dist. No. 400, 154 Wn.2d 16, 26, 109 P.3d 805 (2005) (citing Atherton Condo. Apartment-Owners Ass'n Bd. Of Dirs. v. Blume Dev. Co., 115 Wn.2d 506, 516, 799 P.2d 250 (1990)).

V. ARGUMENT

The Trial Court improperly dismissed Cronin's claims against the District based on the failure to elect a remedy. The

Trial Court incorrectly held that plaintiff did not elect his remedy until February 8, 2012, which was too late to pursue a statutory hearing or grievance and that such failure was fatal to his action.

A. This action is not barred because Cronin elected a remedy when his request for a statutory hearing was properly presented to the District.

In order to appeal his termination, all Cronin was legally obligated to do was notify the District of his intent to request a statutory hearing. RCW 28A.405.210; RCW 28A.405.300. He was not required to notify the District of his intent to elect a remedy. A request for hearing simply has to place the District on notice that a teacher is disputing his/her termination. No magical language is required. There is no prescribed form or required language. McNair notified the District in her letter of January 11, 2012, of Cronin's intent to request a hearing because he was disputing his termination. (CP 93). She specifically requested a closed statutory hearing. (Id.); RCW 28A.405.310(2). She identified herself as Cronin's nominee to select a hearing officer. (Id.); RCW 28A.405.310(4). Cronin did, in fact, elect a remedy when Sally McNair filed his request for statutory hearing. That request was timely served before ten days elapsed as required by statute. RCW 28A.405.210; RCW 28A.405.300. The District received actual

notice of Cronin's request and McNair had authority to file his request with the District. (CP 309-312).

The District is subject to a Collective Bargaining Agreement, which was negotiated between the District and the union. (CP 2; 4-19). The Collective Bargaining Agreement requires an election of remedy:

Section E - Right to Due Process

No certificated employee shall be reprimanded, disciplined, or reduced in rank or compensation without just cause. Any such reprimand, discipline or reduction in rank or compensation shall be subject to the grievance procedure hereinafter set forth, PROVIDED, however, that in cases of nonrenewal, discharge, or actions which adversely affect the employee's contract status, the employee shall select the statutory procedures or the grievance procedure. In the event the employee serves notice to the Board that he/she is appealing the Board's decision according to the statutory provisions, such cases shall be specifically exempted from the grievance procedure.

(CP 5).

Based on the foregoing provision, if a teacher elects to proceed with a statutory hearing, then he/she may not pursue a grievance. In order to elect a statutory hearing procedure, a request must be made within ten days of receipt of a notice of termination. RCW 28A.405.210; RCW 28A.405.300. Cronin's request was timely made and received by the Superintendent. (CP 93; 309-312). On the other hand, in order to elect the grievance procedure, a grievance must be filed within 20 business days (30

calendar days) of the date of receipt of a Notice of Termination. (CP 16). In reality, the Collective Bargaining Agreement provision for an election of remedies is really a ten day election because once a teacher elects a statutory hearing (which is required within ten days) he/she is foreclosed from pursuing a grievance. (CP 16). So a teacher has to decide within ten days to elect either a statutory hearing or a grievance, or the statutory hearing procedure is foreclosed. In this case, Sally McNair filed a statutory hearing request within the ten days and did not elect a grievance after that. (CP 260-261). Her request for a statutory hearing was binding on the District. And once having filed a request for statutory hearing, an election has occurred no matter what may have been intended.

The District cannot in good faith now argue it was confused and didn't know what was happening. The District knew exactly what was happening. The District negotiated the Collective Bargaining Agreement and knew its provisions. It knew that a teacher termination case appealed according to the statutory hearing procedure was specifically exempted from the grievance procedure. (CP 5). The District knew exactly what it was doing when it chose to ignore McNair's request for statutory hearing. (CP 95). The District personnel weren't confused. They didn't claim

they were uncertain which remedy Cronin was seeking. They didn't claim he failed to elect a remedy or timely request a statutory hearing. The District chose to wait to respond until after the 30 days had expired to file a grievance. The District then took the position that McNair was not an employee of the District and, therefore, had no authority to request a hearing on his behalf. (CP 95)

Cronin had 30 days to elect a grievance. (CP 5). He could have waived his right to a statutory hearing and pursued a grievance. He did not. (CP 260-261). McNair elected a statutory hearing and preserved Cronin's right to that hearing in the event he decided he wanted to waive that right and pursue a grievance. (CP 93). There is nothing illegal or untoward about that. While Cronin could have requested a grievance and waived the statutory hearing, he could not wait 30 days, waive the grievance and file a request for statutory hearing because his request for statutory hearing had to be made within ten days of the notice of termination. RCW 28A.405.210; RCW 28A.405.300.

¹ If McNair had elected to file a grievance, it had to be filed by February 6, 2014, which was 30 days after Cronin received the District's notice of termination. (CP 34; 91). The District ignored McNair's request for a statutory hearing until it responded on February 21, 2014, which was not faxed to McNair until February 28, 2014. (CP 76; 95).

There is no requirement under either the law or the Collective Bargaining Agreement that a teacher has to give notice of an election of remedy. The District knew from the Collective Bargaining Agreement that once a statutory hearing was filed, no grievance could be elected. (CP 5). The District claims it needed to know what to do and how to proceed, but in reality they ignored McNair's letter. Since Cronin could always waive his right to a statutory hearing and pursue a grievance, the District knew it had to wait at least 30 days under the Collective Bargaining Agreement to determine whether Cronin might elect to proceed with filing a grievance during the 30 day window. If the teacher failed to waive his right to statutory hearing and then grieve the termination, then the District knew after 30 days that the teacher was pursuing the statutory hearing procedure. This is not a case where the teacher first elected to pursue a grievance and then attempted to waive that remedy in order to pursue a statutory hearing. Arguably, after he requested the statutory hearing procedure, the grievance was still available to Cronin. But when he failed to grieve within the 30 days, the District knew his choice. Cronin was pursuing his request for statutory hearing.

Sally McNair's letter requesting a statutory hearing was not an attempt to give notice of an election of remedies because no notice of an election is required to be given under the law or a Collective Bargaining Agreement. McNair requested a statutory hearing that excluded the grievance process since the Collective Bargaining Agreement already excludes the grievance procedure once a request for hearing has been made.

The trial court erred in holding that McNair failed to elect a remedy claiming that her letter of January 11, 2012 was not an election since she was preserving the grievance procedure as well. (CP 93; 309-312) McNair did not have to "preserve" the grievance process since, under the Collective Bargaining Agreement, the parties had already bargained for a 30 day window to grieve a termination. Under the circumstances, all Sally McNair had to do was make her intention known to the District that she was requesting a statutory hearing. This she did. A discharged or non-renewed teacher is granted the opportunity for a hearing pursuant to RCW 28A.405.310 when a timely request is made to the Superintendent within ten days of receipt of such notice. RCW 28A.405.300; RCW 28A.405.210. The only step necessary for Cronin to invoke jurisdiction of the trial court, was to serve his request for a statutory hearing on the Superintendent within ten days of receipt of a Notice of Probable Cause for discharge or nonrenewal. Once having done so, Cronin perfected his appeal for all

issues related to his employment including the failure to pay wages and benefits.

In addition to requesting a statutory hearing, all McNair did was leave open Cronin's right to file a grievance over the next 30 days. Whether she set in motion a timely request for grievance is irrelevant. In her letter to the District, McNair could have said nothing about contemplating filing a grievance. Then at some point during the 30 day window, she had every right to waive the request for a statutory hearing and file a grievance. This would have timely implemented the grievance procedure under the Collective Bargaining Agreement. The fact remains that the District didn't object to McNair's letter requesting a hearing, never made known its concerns, and never filed suit or otherwise forced Cronin to clarify or elect one remedy over the other. There was nothing vague or evasive about her request for hearing. She clearly states that she was "requesting a closed hearing on Mr. Cronin's behalf to determine whether there is sufficient cause for such adverse action". Her letter was direct, clear and unequivocal to preserve a statutory hearing.

B. Under the Collective Bargaining Agreement, the election of remedies does not occur until 30 days has passed.

Cronin had ten days to file a request for statutory hearing and 30 calendar days to file a grievance on his termination. RCW 28A.405.210; RCW 28A.405.300; (CP 5). Under the parties Collective Bargaining Agreement, Cronin could elect either the statutory hearing or grievance procedure, but not both. Once he elected a statutory hearing, he could not pursue a grievance in tandem with a hearing. (Id.) Cronin took all necessary and required steps to preserve his request for a statutory hearing. (CP 93). It was not an ambiguous request or merely a statement of "intention".

Cronin is not required to give notice of an election so McNair's email of February 8, 2012 advising the District that Cronin elected to pursue his statutory remedy is superfluous. The District already knew that by virtue of the fact that no grievance had been filed under the Collective Bargaining Agreement within 30 days of termination. To suggest that after invoking the statutory hearing procedure Cronin had an additional obligation to give notice to the District of his intention to pursue one remedy over the other is not supported in fact or law. Judge O'Connor found that Cronin did not elect his remedy until McNair's email to

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