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

The Superintendent never objected to McNair's request for hearing, never 

raised an objection until now that Cronin hadn't timely selected a remedy, 

cut off his pay and benefits, and now argues it was unfair to the District 

because it was not timely notified which procedure Cronin was going to 

undertake? The District never claimed it needed to be notified of any 

selection or set some deadline for Cronin to make a selection. His election 

to pursue a statutory hearing was made and preserved because it was filed 

with the Superintendent within 10 days. At this point the District should 

either be estopped or has waived any claim that Mr. Cronin's request for 

hearing was somehow untimely. 

F. The District has shown no prejudice in allowing a 
statutory hearing. 

Judge O'Connor felt that in "fairness to the school district, they do 

not have any idea what actually is going to happen." (RP 7:5-8; 

Respondent's Brief at 27. That is not accurate. The District knows full 

well a request for statutory hearing has to be filed within 10 days. It also 
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knows that a grievance must be filed within 30 days. Under the CBA, the 

District would have to wait for at least 30 days to determine which remedy 

a teacher might decide to pursue. Judge 0' Connor felt that the election of 

remedies "needs to be made at the time that the initial response by the 

teacher is made to the district." (RP 8: 11-14). There is nothing in the 

statute or in the CBA to support that contention. That argument makes the 

parties collectively bargained agreement of a 30 day window to file a 

grievance meaningless. When carried to its logical conclusion, this 

argument requires an immediate decision on a remedy within 10 days to 

the exclusion of the 30 days allowed to file a grievance under the CBA. 

Nothing in the statute or CBA requires that a request for hearing filed with 

a school district identify which remedy is being elected. (CP 5) Nor is 

there anything in the statute or CBA that prohibits preserving both 

remedies and waiving one or the other. Id. 

Cronin did timely file his request for hearing within 10 days as 

required by statute. RCW 28A.405.210; 300. The District ignores this 

and argues that by allowing Cronin to select a remedy within the 30 day 

grievance window would frustrate the deadlines set forth in RCW 

28A.405.3 l 0. Respondent's Brief at 18. The District can't have it both 

ways. It can't claim that Cronin must make a final selection within 10 

days, but then having filed a request for statutory hearing within 10 days, 
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now argue that his case must be dismissed because McN air had not made 

a final selection when she suggested she would file a grievance which was 

never accomplished. The District knew that when a grievance was not 

filed by the end of the 30 day window, that Cronin was pursuing his 

already perfected statutory hearing. 

Even waiting until the 30 day window has passed to determine if a 

grievance will be filed does not frustrate the purpose and deadlines 

imposed by RCW 28A.405.310. First of all, the District ignored McNair's 

request for statutory hearing and all the deadlines thereafter. The statute 

does not contemplate all of the statutory deadlines will be accomplished 

within 30 days, as argued by the District. Respondent's Brief at 18. 

There is no support for that in the statute. The reality is that under the 

statute, if the parties can't agree on a hearing officer (no deadline is set in 

the statute for the parties to agree), then either party can apply to superior 

court for appointment of a hearing officer. RCW 28A.405.310( 4). And 

even after a hearing officer is appointed, although a hearing is to be set 

within 10 days of the prehearing conference, it is continued for discovery 

if the employee (not the district) "requests a continuance, in which event 

the hearing officer shall give due consideration to such request." RCW 

28A.405.310(6)(d). The fact remains that although the District is to 

"specify the probable cause or causes for such action," it did not do so. 
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(CP 91-92); RCW 28A.405.300. It has only identified very general and 

not specific basis for its termination decision . Id. As a result, discovery 

is undertaken including interrogatories and depositions before any hearing 

occurs. RCW 28A.405.310(6)(b) & (c). So any hearing is not 

accomplished until beyond 30 days to afford both parties an opportunity to 

conduct discovery. The District is not prejudiced by waiting 30 days to 

see if a grievance is filed. And of course if no request for hearing is filed, 

the District has to wait during the 30 day window to see if a grievance will 

be filed. 

Cronin could have filed a grievance before filing his request for a 

statutory hearing, preserving both remedies and selecting one and waiving 

the other. Oak Harbor Educ. Assn. v. Oak Harbor School Dist., 162 Wn. 

App. 254, 259 P.3d 274 (2011). This case does not support the District's 

position. Would the District argue that the teacher must pursue his/her 

grievance since that was the first remedy selected? Or can the teacher 

waive one or the other? The teacher can waive one remedy and pursue the 

other, as long as one is selected. Id. The fact that the CBA in the Oak 

Harbor case did not have an election of remedies clause is not 

determinative. There is no deadline set in Cronin's CBA as to when the 

District is to be notified by the teacher of any particular selection. The 

parties could have bargained for some sort of deadline, but did not. The 
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CBA simply exempts one process if the other is pursued. It does not 

prohibit preserving both and then electing which remedy to proceed. If 

the parties desired, they could have collectively bargained something more 

specific as to deadlines for selecting a remedy. But the District cannot 

read into the CBA a deadline which does not exist. 

The argument by the District is really form over substance. It 

ignored the request for hearing filed by Ms. McNair. It ignored her email 

identifying her selection of the statutory hearing process. (CP 93) It 

ignored the undersigned's letter to Mr. Clay. (CP 101) The District was 

never disadvantaged or prejudiced by the timing of Ms. McNair's 

selection. The fact remains that Ms. McN air did request a hearing on the 

merits of Cronin's termination in the first paragraph of her letter. (CP 93) 

In the second paragraph, she also notified the District that she was placing 

them on notice that she would be filing a grievance as well to preserve 

both procedures. However, no grievance was ever filed. (CP 259-261) 

After she conferred with Cronin, she notified the District that Cronin 

would be proceeding with his already timely perfected statutory hearing. 

(CP 94) 

Ms. McNair's February 8, 2012 letter to the District was not even 

necessary. The District knew that the perfected request for statutory 

hearing was the procedure he would pursue since he didn't file a timely 
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grievance. The District knows from the CBA that when one is selected, 

the other is excluded. The District's position seems to be that a teacher 

can ignore the 10 day window to select a statutory hearing and still grieve 

within 30 days, but can't select the statutory hearing within the 10 day 

window and ignore filing a grievance. The District's argument makes a 

nullity of the 30 day grievance window since requiring a decision within 

10 days makes the 30 days to file a grievance superfluous. That is neither 

a reasonable nor fair reading of the CBA. The carefully bargained for 

terms of the CBA would render the grievance deadline meaningless 

because if a statutory hearing weren't elected before the 10 day timeline, a 

grievance would be the only remedy. Selecting the statutory hearing in 

this instance triggered the election regardless of what Ms. McNair 

intended or thought she was trying to accomplish in pursuing a grievance: 

"In the event the employee serves notice to the [School] Board that he/she 

is appealing the [School] Board's decision according to the statutory 

provisions, such case shall be specifically exempted from the grievance 

procedure." (CP 5, Section E - Right to Due Process) 

The District argues, that the CBA "does not allow selection of both 

procedures followed by a subsequent waiver, withdrawal, abandonment, 

rejection or whatever other new theory plaintiff might offer to pretend that 

the first selection was not made." Respondent's Brief at 16. If so, then 

35 



Ms. McNair' s unequivocal request for a statutory hearing timely served 

was the selection no matter what her subsequent after the fact efforts or 

intentions were to preserve a grievance. 

Cronin is not requesting that the I 0 day deadline to file for a 

statutory hearing be extended. Ms. McNair timely perfected that remedy 

in the first paragraph of her January 11, 2012 request for hearing. (CP 93) 

If the CBA election provision is "disjunctive" as argued by the District, 

(Respondent's Brief at 18), then Ms. McNair's election to perfect a 

statutory hearing was not affected by the second paragraph of her letter 

that sought to preserve a grievance, no matter what her intentions were. 

(CP 93) His appeal for a statutory hearing was already legally perfected 

by the first paragraph of her letter, and precluded Cronin from filing a 

grievance without withdrawing his request for statutory hearing. 

Ms. McNair appealed the termination decision according to the 

statutory provisions. If an appeal to the termination decision is made 

"according to the statutory provisions", then the case "is specifically 

exempted from the grievance process." The issue is not whether the 

District received notice of an election of remedy; the issue is whether the 

"statutory provisions" were followed. The statutory provisions were 

followed and Cronin timely requested a hearing on the merits of his 

termination. As a result, the District's argument is moot. Cronin has not 
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attempted to enforce his right to both remedies. The District has provided 

no legal authority to support its contention that the initiation of one action 

is barred simply because a subsequent action is contemplated. The "time 

for election" is not identified in the CBA nor defined in a manner that 

supports the District's position. The case law is unanimous that the 

election becomes operative once final judgment has been entered. Stryken 

v. Panell, 66 Wn.App. 566, 832 P.2d 890 (1992) (citing McKown, 54 

Wn.2d at 55). No final judgment has been entered in this matter. 

G. Cronin was unable to request a hearing on his own because 
of his incarceration. 

Once Cronin received notice of termination on January 6, 2012, he 

had to request a hearing within ten days by "filing" a request for hearing 

with the Superintendent. RCW 28A.405.210 and .300. The District 

claims it did not know when Cronin would be released from jail. 

Respondent's Brief at 5. That is not accurate. The District knew Cronin 

was in jail when it sent the notice of termination to him. (CP 34, ifl4; CP 

258, if5; 259, if2). They knew his release date was January 16, 2012. Id. 

The District contends that Cronin could request a hearing by mail. 

Respondent's Brief at 43. However, the statute does not allow a teacher to 

request a hearing by mail. A teacher's request for hearing must be "filed" 

with the Superintendent, which is not by mail. RCW 28A.405.210; 300. 
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Personal service has been the method to assure a request for hearing is 

"filed". 

The District claims that Cronin was still within the ten days to 

appeal at the time he was released from Geiger. How does the District 

suggest Cronin timely appeal when his discharge from jail is on the tenth 

day? Even Judge O'Connor recognized the predicament faced by Cronin. 

(RP 4:3-15) His release from Geiger occurred on the tenth day of the 

appeal period. (CP 258, i!6) Cronin had his friend Teresa Anderson 

contact his union representative to take such action as necessary to appeal 

the termination. This could not have been accomplished while he was 

incarcerated without the help of his union representative or someone to 

assure an appeal was timely filed. 

The District cites to Robel v. Highline Public Sch. Dist., 65 Wn.2d 

477, 398 P.2d 1 (1965) for the proposition that it too made "several" 

attempts to provide the notice of probable cause to Cronin. It also claims 

this case rejects the argument that Cronin "needed an agent to select a 

hearing procedure because it would be inequitable to require him to do so 

while incarcerated." Respondent's Brief at 42. 

First of all, the District did not make ''several" attempts to notify 

Cronin. They simply sent the notice by certified and regular mail, of 

which certified mail is a form of service that complies with the statute. 
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(CP 91-92); RCW 28A.405.210; 300. The notice was received by Cronin 

when he was in jail and he acted as quickly as possible to preserve his job. 

(CP 34-35, ~15 & 16) The District knew he was incarcerated when they 

sent him notice. (CP 34, ~14; CP 259-261) 

In Robel, the teacher was nonrenewed for performance 

deficiencies. The post office attempted delivery of the district's registered 

letter of nonrenewal three times and left a "mail arrival notice" each time 

which the teacher ignored. The court found that the notice of nonrenewal 

had been timely and properly given and knowingly or negligently ignored. 

The court did not reject the argument that an agent could act for and on 

behalf of a teacher. That argument was neither presented nor addressed by 

the court. 

Unlike Robel, Mr. Cronin did not ignore the notice he received. 

He took immediate measures to assure his job was protected. He could 

not rely on the mail service in the jail to assure a timely response to the 

notice. (CP 257-258) The District received actual notice of Cronin's 

intent to appeal his termination so this argument is moot. 

H. The District and taxpayers suffered no prejudice. 

The District claims prejudice by Cronin's failure to elect a remedy. 

Respondent's Brief at 27-28; 44. That prejudice includes having to pay a 

teacher wages and benefits pending a statutory hearing, the need to hire 
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substitutes to teach Mr. Cronin's classes, the claim that students suffer 

because they are deprived of a regularly hired employee, and that public 

resources are wasted "by pursuing two costly procedures (a hearing and 

grievance procedure) at one time." Respondent's Brief at 28-29; 44-46. 

The District argues that "selection of the statutory procedures 

within the ten-day deadline is based on fairness to the District." 

Respondent's Brief at 27. The prejudice that the District now claims is 

nothing more than what they are obligated to perform by law anytime they 

terminate a teacher. The District is obligated to pay a teacher pending a 

hearing.6 Foster v. Carson School Dist., 63 Wn.2d 29, 385 P.2d 367 

(1963); Benson v. Bellevue School District No. 405, 41 Wn. App. 730, 707 

P.2d 137 (1985); Noe v. Edmonds School District No. 15, 83 Wn.2d 97, 

515 P.2d 977 (1973). A public employee's property interest in continued 

employment is protected by the due process clauses of the state and 

federal constitutions. Olson v. University of Washington, 89 Wn.2d 558, 

573 P.2d 1308 (1978); Sneed v. Barna, 80 Wn. App. 843, 850, 912 P.2d. 

1035 (1996). 

The District is also obligated to hire a substitute teacher to teach. 

The District was the one that decided to place Cronin on administrative 

6 The District acknowledges that a teacher receives pay and benefits pending a decision 
by a statutory hearing officer: "An employee continues to receive pay if the employee 
selects the statutory procedure." Respondent's Brief at 28-29. 
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leave before school started in the Fall of 2011, so knew that replacement 

coverage was necessary from that point forward until they terminated him, 

and thereafter. (CP 32, i!6) District claims it was left with 

"uncertainty" in the employment plans of the teacher and the district for 

the ensuing term. Respondent's Brief at 27-28. The District terminated 

Cronin and didn't want him back. Whether he requested a statutory 

hearing or grievance, the District would not allow him to return. They 

wouldn't allow him to return when he had work release privileges. (CP 

33, i!l 1) They were not going to allow him to return after they had 

terminated him. There was no uncertainty in the District's decision to 

terminate and need to hire a replacement for Cronin for the ensuing school 

year. Whether or not students suffer is speculation and conjecture. There 

is no evidence in the record to support any effect on students. 

There is no prejudice to the District by affording Mr. Cronin a 

hearing on his termination. Any claimed failure to elect a remedy is 

harmless and has caused no prejudice to the District. The District's claim 

that it needed prompt notice of his decision is illusory. Any impact on the 

tax paying public is irrelevant. The District has not spent one cent on 

either a statutory hearing or grievance. It has not been subjected to two 

costly procedures so no prejudice has occurred.

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